FILED
SID 1 MAHITE

OCT 11 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 83,845

SABRINA RAHMINGS,

Petitioner,

V\$.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER
Public Defender
Eleventh Judicial Circuit
of Florida
1320 Northwest 14th Street
Miami, Florida 33125
(305) 545-1958

LOUIS CAMPBELL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0833320

Counsel for Petitioner

# **

### INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, Sabrina Rahmings, was the appellant in the district court of appeal, and the defendant in the trial court. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the appellee in the district court of appeal, and the prosecution in the trial court. This brief refers to the parties as the "state" and the "defendant." The symbols "T." and "R." denote the transcript of the proceedings in the trial court and the remainder of the record on appeal. The symbol "A." denotes the appendix to this brief, consisting of the opinion of the district court of appeal.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This petition seeks review of a decision of the Third District Court of Appeal upholding an upward departure sentence imposed for failure to return from a postconviction furlough.

The petitioner, Sabrina Rahmings, was convicted after a jury trial. (R. 63-68; T. 489-91). Defense counsel requested that a presentence investigation report be prepared because Ms. Rahmings had no prior convictions and no minimum mandatory provisions applied. (T. 491). Counsel also requested that Ms. Rahmings

<sup>&#</sup>x27;She was found guilty of aggravated battery, two counts of armed robbery, and burglary with assault. (R. 63-68; T. 489-91). The incident giving rise to the charges occurred on November 2, 1991. At trial, the state presented evidence showing that two men entered the home of John Samms, and robbed him and his son Roderick, after Mr. Samms opened the door to Ms. Rahmings. (T. 181-208, 254-57, 292-99). The two robbers carried firearms. (T. 181-85, 188-89). Mr. Samms was stabbed in the back and severely beaten by one of the men in an effort to make him disclose the location of a nonexistent safe which the men believed contained \$30,000 in cash. (T. 195-200, 258). Meanwhile, Roderick and his girlfriend, Karen Wilson, were held at gunpoint in the kitchen. (T. 255-59, 296-300). The two men left after taking the money that was in Mr. Samms' and Roderick's pockets. (T. 195-96, 207-8, 257).

The evidence of Ms. Rahmings' participation was that she had knocked on the door and asked for Mr. Samms. (T. 254, 292-94). None of the witnesses saw her after the robbers entered the house. (T. 230-31, 260, 283, 295, 314). Ms. Rahmings was charged as a principal with the offenses of attempted first-degree murder (count 1), armed robbery (counts 2 and 3), and burglary with assault (count 4). (R. 1-4). Additional counts of uttering a forged instrument and grand theft were severed before trial (R. 5-8, 17), and were subsequently dropped.

not be taken into custody until sentencing. (T. 491). Her mother had been injured in an accident and was unable to care for the defendant's three small children. (T. 491, 498). The prosecutor asked that Ms. Rahmings be taken into custody, or that a bond be set. (T. 491-92). The judge proposed that Ms. Rahmings be released over the weekend, and that a bond hearing be held when she returned to determine whether she should be released during the four to six weeks that would be required to prepare a presentence investigation report. (T. 494-95). She would be sentenced to forty years, which would be mitigated when she surrendered on February 2, 1993. (T. 499). Defense counsel agreed to waive the presentence investigation report for this purpose. (T. 498-99). The court explained the proposed furlough arrangement as follows:

\* \* \* I will adjudicate her in accordance with the jury's verdict. I will sentence her now to 40 years, which is essentially life under DOC guidelines on the counts already charged. I'm not making any sentence or ruling on the counts that have been severed. I will allow her to take a furlough to get her children placed in child care and take care of whatever other necessities that she needs. She will return on Tuesday February 2nd, 1993. When she surrenders on that date, I will mitigate the sentence and I will suspend entry of any sentence until she gets the PSI.

(T. 499).

After being sworn, Ms. Rahmings was questioned by the court. She stated that she was twenty-two-years old, and had stopped school at the eleventh grade. (T. 499-500). She understood that if she did not return she would have to serve forty years. (T. 500-501). She agreed to surrender herself on Tuesday, February 2nd. (T. 501).

A sentencing order was filed the same day, January 29, 1993, imposing a

forty-year prison sentence for all four counts. (R. 69-70).<sup>2</sup>

Ms. Rahmings duly surrendered herself as agreed, on February 2, 1993, and was taken into custody. (T. 506). A presentence investigation report was ordered. (T. 506). An order was filed vacating the forty-year sentence previously imposed. (R. 71).

Ms. Rahmings remained incarcerated awaiting sentencing until March 25, 1993, when she was released by the trial judge on a one-day furlough. (T. 511). As in the case of the previous furlough, the court would impose a forty-year sentence which would be vacated if the defendant did not return. (R. 72-73; T. 511-12). An order was filed the same day, imposing a single forty-year sentence for all four counts and awarding ninety-seven days credit for time served. (R. 72-73). The trial court also reinstated the defendant's \$10,000 bond. (T. 513). The court explained its reasons for giving the furlough as follows: "Ms. Rahmings has extensive ties in the community, never failed to appear at any hearing, even after the trial when I gave her a furlough before. She has three children of tender years. Her mother works in the Department of Corrections and has shown an active interest in the case." (T. 512).

The recommended guidelines range was five-and-half to seven years; the permitted range was four-and-a-half to nine years. (R. 77). The scoresheet filed on March 25, 1993, states as the reason for departure that the defendant "waived guidelines to get furlough--failed to turn herself in." (R. 77).

Ms. Rahmings appeared at the required time on the following day, March 26, 1993. (T. 517). The furlough was extended over the weekend, until Monday, March 29, 1993, to enable her to find an apartment for her mother. (T. 517-18).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This order was signed for the sentencing judge by a different judge, as were the subsequent sentencing orders and the scoresheet giving the reason for departure. (R. 69-70, 71, 72-73, 77).

The court stated that if she failed to appear or committed any violations of the law, the previously-imposed forty-year sentence would stand. (T. 518).

On the day she was to surrender herself, March 29, 1993, Ms. Rahmings came to court, but was not in the courtroom when her case was called. (T. 522). A different judge was handling the calendar for the trial judge. (T. 522). The court rejected the prosecutor's suggestion to reset the matter until the return of the trial judge. (T. 522-23). After a brief search of the ladies' room and of that floor of the courthouse, an order was issued committing Ms. Rahmings to the Department of Corrections, to serve the forty-year sentence previously imposed. (T. 523-24).

On appeal from the conviction and sentence the defendant argued that the furlough arrangement could only be enforced within the limits of the guidelines, because it was not part of a plea bargain and, under *Williams v. State*, 500 So. 2d 501 (Fla. 1986) and *Quarterman v. State*, 527 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 1988), the failure to appear pursuant to a furlough agreement is not a valid reason to depart unless the furlough is an integral part of a plea bargain. It is the plea bargain which justifies departure, not the defendant's agreement to return pursuant to the conditions imposed by the court in granting a furlough. (A. 3).

The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed, holding that a departure sentence may be based upon failure to appear "when the sentence is the result of a knowing and voluntary agreement entered into by the defendant and the court. Whether or not one of the elements of such a agreement is a guilty plea is not dispositive of the agreement's enforceability." (A. 4). According to the district court, "[t]he rationale of *Quarterman* focused not on the fact that a guilty plea had been entered but on the existence of an agreement between the defendant and the court." (A. 4). The district court reasoned that "it was the knowing and voluntary nature of the agreement which justified its use as a reason for the departure

sentence," not the fact that the agreement was part of a plea bargain. (A. 4). The district court concluded:

[W]e read <u>Quarterman</u> as approving a departure sentence based upon the failure to appear, when the sentence is the result of a knowing and voluntary agreement entered into by the defendant and the court. Whether or not one of the elements of such a agreement is a guilty plea is not dispositive of the agreement's enforceability.

(A. 4).

While approving the enforcement of the furlough agreement, the court reversed and remanded for resentencing because the forty-year sentence was an impermissible general sentence (and exceeded the statutory maximum for aggravated battery). (A. 5). On remand, Ms. Rahmings was sentenced to concurrent fifteen-year terms on all of the counts. She had previously petitioned this Court for discretionary review on the ground that the district court's decision was in express and direct conflict with this Court's decision in *Williams v. State*, 500 So. 2d 501 (Fla. 1986), as clarified in Quarterman v. State, 527 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 1988). This Court accepted jurisdiction. This brief follows.

# QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER A DEFENDANT'S FAILURE TO RETURN FROM A FURLOUGH IS A VALID REASON FOR AN UPWARD DEPARTURE FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES, WHERE THE FURLOUGH IS NOT PART OF A PLEA BARGAIN.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Ms. Rahmings was convicted after a jury trial. The maximum sentence permitted by the guidelines was nine years. While she was in custody awaiting sentencing, she requested a one-day furlough. The trial judge agreed to grant a furlough, but only after imposing a forty-year sentence which would be mitigated upon the defendant's return. The reason given for departure was "waived guidelines to get furlough--failed to turn herself in." Ms. Rahmings returned the next day and the furlough was extended over the weekend. She failed to appear and was committed to serve the forty-year sentence. The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed, holding that under this Court's decision in *Quarterman v. State*, 527 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 1988), a departure sentence may be based upon failure to appear when the sentence is the result of a knowing and voluntary agreement entered into by the defendant and the court, regardless of whether or not that agreement is part of a plea bargain.

Contrary to the Third District's interpretation, the *Quarterman* decision did not give blanket approval to all upward departure sentences which are based on a defendant's "agreement," and it certainly did not approve departures based on postconviction sentencing "agreements" to which the state is not even a party.

In *Quarterman* this Court (1) recognized that because a negotiated plea agreement is a valid reason upon which to base a departure, a sentencing agreement which is an "integral part" of a valid plea bargain is likewise a valid basis for departure, and (2) declined to make an exception for plea bargains which involve a furlough. Where a furlough is <u>not</u> part of a plea bargain, it remains the law that a defendant's failure to appear as required cannot justify a departure sentence even when the defendant agreed or acquiesced to the furlough conditions set by the court.

A defendant's "agreement" is not in itself a valid reason for departure. The sentencing limitations enacted in the guidelines reflect legislative decisions as to the use of the state's correctional facilities. Those sentencing limitations were not established for the defendant's benefit. There is accordingly no generally-applicable reason why a defendant's agreement should always give the court the authority to disregard the guidelines limits.

A negotiated plea agreement justifies an upward departure not merely because the defendant knowingly and voluntarily agrees, but also because one of the things he agrees to do is to plead guilty. A guilty plea permits conviction without the cost of a trial. This is in the public interest, and gives the defendant something with which to bargain with the state. Negotiated guilty pleas are justified by this perceived mutuality of advantage, constitute an essential component of our system of justice, and it is the declared public policy of this state to enforce and encourage such agreements.

Unlike a plea agreement, a postconviction furlough agreement between a convicted defendant and the court does not result from a process of bargaining and does not advance any public interest that would justify deviation from the sentencing policies embodied in the guidelines.

A postconviction furlough agreement between the defendant and the court is not really an "agreement" at all since there is no real bargaining or negotiation involved. The defendant has already been convicted and has nothing to offer the court in exchange for the furlough except a promise to behave himself while on furlough and to return, both of which the law already requires him to do. Since there is nothing to negotiate, the defendant is in no position to do anything but accept the conditions laid down by the court. This is not bargaining and the result is not an agreement. Rather, the defendant has made a motion, and the court has

ruled, entering an order containing court-imposed conditions.

Moreover, unlike a plea agreement, the court's granting of a request for a furlough advances no public interest that would reasonably justify setting aside the sentencing policies embodied in the guidelines, or the statutory penalties established for failure to appear or for contempt. To allow departures based on furlough arrangements between a convicted defendant and the court simply leads to arbitrary and grossly disproportionate sentences. There is no good reason why this should be permitted. Such sentencing agreements should be enforceable only within the limits established by the guidelines. The Third District's decision in this case must be quashed, and this cause remanded for sentencing within the guidelines.

### **ARGUMENT**

A DEFENDANT'S FAILURE TO RETURN FROM A FURLOUGH IS NOT A VALID REASON FOR AN UPWARD DEPARTURE FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES, WHERE THE FURLOUGH IS NOT PART OF A PLEA BARGAIN.

Ms. Rahmings was convicted after a jury trial. (R. 63-68; T. 489-91). The maximum sentenced permitted by the guidelines was nine years. (R. 77). Two months after the judgment of conviction had been entered, she requested a one-day furlough. (T. 511). The judge granted the furlough, but only after imposing a forty-year sentence which would be mitigated upon the defendant's return. (R. 72-73; T. 511-12). The reason given for departure was "waived guidelines--failed to turn herself in." (R. 77). Ms. Rahmings returned the next day and the furlough was extended over the weekend. (T. 517-18). Ms. Rahmings came to court on the required date, but was not in the courtroom when her case was called. (T. 522). A different judge was handling the calendar. (T. 522). An order of commitment was issued. (T. 523-24). The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed.

The district court's decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Williams* v. State, 500 So. 2d 501 (Fla. 1986) and Quarterman v. State, 527 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 1988). Under Williams and Quarterman, the furlough could not be the basis for an upward departure sentence because it was not part of a negotiated plea bargain. The district court's decision must be quashed and the cause remanded for resentencing to no more than the nine years permitted by the guidelines.

In Williams v. State, 500 So. 2d 501 (Fla. 1986), this Court held that a defendant's failure to return for sentencing after a furlough could not justify an upward departure from the sentencing guidelines, even if the defendant agreed or acquiesced to the conditions imposed by the court in granting the furlough. This is because failure to appear for sentencing is itself a criminal offense, § 843.15, Fla.

Stat. (1993), and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(11) prohibits departures based on offenses for which the defendant has not been convicted. *Id.* at 502-3. If failure to appear could justify departure, the trial judge could circumvent the legislatively-established, five-year maximum for that offense, and impose, without a trial, whatever sentence the judge might arbitrarily choose. *Id.* at 503. Such a "Kafkaesque" situation should not be permitted and is prohibited by the guidelines. *Id.* 

However, a different rule applies where the defendant's agreement to appear for sentencing is an integral part of a valid plea bargain. *Quarterman v. State*, 527 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 1988). Because a negotiated plea agreement is a valid reason upon which to base a departure sentence, *Quarterman*, 527 So. 2d at 1382; *Holland v. State*, 508 So. 2d 5, 6 (Fla. 1987), a sentencing agreement which is an "integral part" of a valid plea bargain is likewise a valid basis for departure, *Quarterman* at 1382. There is no exception for plea bargains which involve a furlough, and *Williams* should not be read to hold to the contrary. *Quarterman* at 1382. Where a furlough agreement is "an integral part" of a valid plea bargain, "the plea bargain itself serves as a clear and convincing reason for departure," and therefore failure to appear in accordance with that agreement will justify a departure sentence. *Quarterman* at 1382.

Contrary to the interpretation of the Third District Court of Appeal, the Quarterman decision did not completely overrule Williams, nor did it give blanket approval to all upward departure sentences which are based on a defendant's "agreement." In Quarterman, this Court simply recognized that there is one sort of agreement, namely, a plea bargain, which has been accepted as a valid basis for departure, and declined to make an exception to that rule for cases where the plea bargain involves a furlough arrangement. The Quarterman decision did not turn on

any distinction between a "knowing and voluntary agreement" and mere "acquiescence" to a departure sentence as the penalty for breach of furlough conditions. Williams, like Quarterman, "agreed" to the conditions of his furlough. Williams at 502; Quarterman at 1382. In distinguishing Williams, this Court emphasized that Quarterman's furlough was an integral part of a plea bargain, and the conditions of the furlough were not imposed after the plea bargain had been accepted, but were accepted as an "integral part" of the plea bargain itself. Quarterman at 1382. As this Court explained, unlike in Williams, in Quarterman,

departure was not only based on Quarterman's failure to appear but was also based on the plea agreement itself. Further .... the conditions which Quarterman agreed to were not imposed after the plea bargain had been accepted, \* \* \*, but were accepted as "an integral part of the bargain itself." \* \* \* We agree with the court below that, under these circumstances, the plea bargain itself serves as a clear and convincing reason for departure and recede from any language in Williams to the contrary.

Quarterman, 527 So. 2d at 1382 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Where, as here, the furlough is not part of a plea bargain, this Court's decision in *Williams* controls, and the defendant's failure to appear as required cannot justify a departure sentence even when the defendant agreed or acquiesced to the furlough conditions set by the court. *See Quarterman* at 1382 (*Williams* stands for the proposition that a defendant's failure to appear for sentencing in and of itself does not constitute a clear and convincing reason for departure from the sentencing guidelines, even when the defendant acquiesced in the conditions imposed by the trial court), *quoting Quarterman v. State*, 506 So. 2d 50, 51 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); *Payne v. State*, 624 So. 2d 815 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (where furlough was not part of a negotiated plea agreement, trial court could not impose an enhanced sentence for failure to appear without giving defendant an opportunity to withdraw the plea); *Logue v. State*, 547 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) (court

could not base departure on failure to return for sentencing after a furlough, where condition to appear was not part of a plea agreement).<sup>3</sup>

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