W00A

FILED

SID J. WHITE

DEC 9 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 83,845

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

SABRINA RAHMINGS,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
Attorney General

✓
PAULETTE R. TAYLOR
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0992348
Office of the Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921
Post Office Box 013241
Miami, Florida 33101
(305) 377-5441

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Defendant and the court entered into a specific agreement for furlough. Defendant understood the terms of the agreement, and voluntarily entered into the agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the court granted Defendant the requested furlough, and imposed a forty (40) year sentence, which would be vacated upon Defendant's return from furlough. Defendant failed to return from furlough. Relying on Quarterman v. State, 527 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 1988), the Third District Court of Appeal held that Defendant's breach of this specific agreement with the court justified the upward departure sentence, where the Defendant knowingly and voluntarily entered into the agreement.

The district court read Quarterman as approving the breach of a furlough agreement as a valid reason for departure where the defendant knowingly and voluntarily entered into the agreement. The district court's conclusion that it is the fact of a knowing and voluntary agreement which justified the departure sentence is correct because there is basically no difference between a plea bargain and a furlough agreement. In both agreements the defendant bargains for a particular benefit.

From the defendant's perspective, a plea bargain consists of a defendant agreeing to waive his, or her, right to trial and accepting adjudication of guilt in exchange for a bargained for

sentence . The plea bargain, therefore, allows a defendant to bargain for a particular sentence. Thus, it is the bargained for sentence that is the 'benefit of the bargain' for which the defendant entered the plea.

Similarly, the furlough agreement in the instant case allowed Defendant to bargain for a particular 'benefit'. Although Defendant did not waive her right to trial, Defendant agreed to waive the pre-sentence investigation and the sentencing hearing and accepted the forty (40) year sentence in exchange for the furlough. Defendant received the benefit of her bargain, the furlough.

In this respect, there is no difference between a sentence imposed pursuant to a plea bargain and a sentence imposed pursuant to a furlough bargain. Accordingly, the bargain in this case, clearly justified the departure sentence.

Defendant, nevertheless, attempts to limit Quarterman only to cases where the defendant has entered a plea. Defendant argues that Williams, should control this case because she was convicted by after a trial. However, Williams should not control this case because the facts of this case are distinguishable.

In that case, the trial court began with the presumption that the defendant would not be sentenced under the guidelines,

unless the defendant, inter alia, appeared for sentencing. The defendant did not bargain for that condition, as the Defendant did in this case. Moreover, there is no indication in that case that the defendant had any option but to accept the condition imposed upon him. Additionally, at that time, the court did not indicate the sentence that it would impose if the defendant did not appear for sentencing. The defendant therefore could not know the penalty for his failure to appear.

Nevertheless, Defendant took the benefit of her bargain. Defendant's only obligation under this agreement was to return to court on the agreed date. Defendant took the benefit of her bargain, but did not fulfill her obligation. Defendant should be estopped from challenging the legality of the agreement.

Moreover, Defendant knew, in advance, the penalty that would be imposed if she did not return to court as she agreed. (T. 500-501). Defendant, therefore, made a conscious choice to breach the agreement and expose herself to the forty (40) year sentence. Defendant should not now be allowed to void the agreement.

This Court should therefore affirm the district court's decision .

ARGUMENT

A DEFENDANT'S BREACH OF A BARGAINED FOR FURLOUGH AGREEMENT IS A VALID REASON FOR AN UPWARD DEPARTURE SENTENCE WHERE THE DEFENDANT EXPRESSLY AGREED TO THE TERMS OF THE FURLOUGH AND KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY ENTERED INTO THE AGREEMENT.

Defendant and the court entered into a specific agreement for furlough. Defendant understood the terms of the agreement, and voluntarily entered into the agreement. (T. 499-501). Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the court granted Defendant the requested furlough, and imposed a forty (40) year sentence, which would be vacated upon Defendant's return from furlough. Defendant failed to return from furlough. Relying on Quarterman v. State, 527 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 1988), the Third District Court of Appeal held that Defendant's breach of this specific agreement with the court justified the upward departure sentence, where the Defendant knowingly and voluntarily entered into the agreement.

Defendant now argues that the district court's decision conflicts with this Court's holding in Williams v. State, 500 So. 2d 501 (Fla. 1986) and Quarterman. Defendant argues that under Williams and Quarterman, the furlough could not provide the basis for the upward departure sentence because it was not part of a negotiated plea bargain. However, the district court's decision is in accord with Quarterman and does not conflict with Williams.

THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION IS IN ACCORD WITH QUARTERMAN

Defendant knowingly and voluntarily entered into furlough agreement. Under this agreement Defendant waived sentencing under the guidelines in exchange for the furlough. On this basis, the district court's decision is in accord with Quarterman.

In Quarterman, the defendant requested a few days furlough prior to entering into a plea agreement. Quarterman, 527 So. 2d at 1381. The guilty plea was tendered with the understanding that the defendant would return for sentencing on a specific day, at which time he would be sentenced to five-and-a-half (5½) years incarceration. Id. The defendant understood that if he failed to appear as agreed, the court could sentence him to anything in the court's discretion. Id. "Prior to accepting the plea, the trial court reiterated these conditions, specifically asking Quarterman if he understood the conditions and agreed to them". Id. The defendant failed to appear as agreed, and the court sentenced him, in abstentia, to fifteen (15) years. The recommended guidelines sentence was four-and-a-half to five -and-a-half (4½-5½) years. Id.

This Court found that the departure sentence was based, in part, on the plea agreement itself, and that the conditions were accepted as an integral part of the bargain itself. Id. at 1382. This Court held that the "plea bargain itself serves as a clear and convincing reason for departure". Id.

In that case, this Court distinguished the holding in Williams by noting that the issue in that case was whether a defendant's failure to appear, in and of itself, justified a departure sentence. This Court also observed that since Williams was decided, this Court "has recognized that a plea bargain can constitute a valid reason for departure". [citation omitted] Id. at 1382. This Court concluded that:

[Williams stands] for the limited proposition that "a defendant's failure to appear for sentencing in and of itself does not constitute a clear and convincing reason for departure from the sentencing guidelines, even when [a] defendant acquiesced in the conditions imposed by the trial court". [citation omitted]

Id. at 1382. Quarterman, therefore, limits Williams to cases where failure to appear for sentencing is cited as the sole basis for imposing a departure sentence.

The district court read Quarterman as approving the breach of a furlough agreement as a valid reason for departure where the defendant knowingly and voluntarily entered into the agreement. In reaching this conclusion, the district court observed:

The rationale of Quarterman focused not on the fact that a guilty plea had been entered, but on the existence of an agreement between the defendant and the court. As pointed out in Quarterman, the conditions of the furlough "were accepted as an integral part of the bargain itself." [citations omitted]. Clearly, it was the knowing and voluntary nature of the agreement which justified its use as a reason for the departure sentence.

Rahmings, 636 So. 2d at 568.

Moreover, in Quarterman, this Court noted that, the defendant in Williams simply acquiesced in the conditions imposed by the court. In the instant case, Defendant did not simply acquiesce in the condition. Defendant, through counsel, actively participated in the negotiations that yielded the forty (40) year sentence. The court reiterated the terms, and Defendant indicated that she understood the conditions and voluntarily accepted them prior to accepting the furlough. The district court observed that "[t]here is no question that the defendant in this case knowingly and voluntarily entered into the furlough agreement with the court". Rahmings, 636 So. 2d at 567.

The district court noted further that, although the furlough agreement in Quarterman was part of a plea agreement, the fact that the agreement in this case was not part of a plea is not dispositive. That court opined that it was the "knowing and voluntary" nature of the agreement which provided the justification for the departure.

FURLOUGH AGREEMENT AND PLEA AGREEMENT ARE BASICALLY THE SAME

The district court's conclusion that it is the fact of a knowing and voluntary agreement which justified the departure sentence is correct because there is basically no difference between a plea bargain and a furlough agreement. In both agreements the defendant bargains for a particular benefit.

From the defendant's perspective, a plea bargain consists of a defendant agreeing to waive his, or her, right to trial and accepting adjudication of guilt in exchange for a bargained for sentence. The plea bargain, therefore, allows a defendant to bargain for a particular sentence. Thus, it is the bargained for sentence that is the 'benefit of the bargain' for which the defendant entered the plea. See, e.g., Hunt v. State, 613 So. 2d 893 (Fla. 1992)(Guilty plea voidable where defendant promised lesser sentence than was in fact received), Parker v. State, 616 So. 2d 1121 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993)(court has affirmative duty to permit defendant to withdraw his or her plea when court decides to impose longer sentence than sentence contemplated when plea was entered).

Like the plea agreement, the furlough agreement in the instant case allowed Defendant to bargain for a particular 'benefit'. Although Defendant did not waive her right to trial, Defendant agreed to waive the pre-sentence investigation and the

sentencing hearing and accepted the forty (40) year sentence in exchange for the furlough. Defendant received the benefit of her bargain, the furlough.

In this respect, there is no difference between a sentence imposed pursuant to a plea bargain and a sentence imposed pursuant to a furlough bargain. Accordingly, the bargain in this case, clearly justified the departure sentence.

Moreover,

there is a perceptible difference between a circumstance where the decision to depart originates with the trial court, and where, as here, the departure flows from the defendant's acceptance of the consensually arrived at sentence.

White v. State, 531 So. 2d 711, 713 (Fla. 1988), citing Rowe v. State, 496 So. 2d 857, 859 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986). In the instant case, Defendant initiated the sentencing negotiation by requesting the furlough. Defendant actively participated in the negotiations that yielded the forty (40) year sentence. Defendant accepted that consensually arrived at departure sentence as a condition of accepting the furlough. Defendant therefore received the sentence for which she bargained. Thus, "there is no reason why the terms of a mutually agreed sentencing bargain should not be enforced". Harris v. State, 608 So. 2d 898, 899 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1992).

WILLIAMS IS DISTINGUISHABLE.

Defendant, nevertheless, attempts to limit Quarterman only to cases where the defendant has entered a plea. Defendant argues that Williams, should control this case because she was convicted by after a trial. However, Williams should not control this case because the facts of this case are distinguishable.

In that case, the defendant entered into a plea agreement with the state. Williams. 500 So. 2d at 501. Prior to accepting the plea, the court informed the defendant that he would be sentenced within the sentencing guidelines only if he, inter alia, appeared for sentencing on the scheduled date. Id. at 501-502. The defendant agreed to the conditions and was subsequently released on his own recognizance. Id. at 502. The defendant absconded and failed to appear for sentencing.

The defendant was eventually recaptured and brought back for sentencing. The defendant's guidelines recommended sentence was any nonstate prison sanction. The court imposed a supra guidelines sentence of fifteen (15) years imprisonment. The court cited the defendant's failure to appear for sentencing as its reason for imposing the departure sentence. Id.

Reasoning that because failure to appear for sentencing is a separate criminal offense⁴, this Court concluded that to base a departure sentence on a defendant's failure to appear for sentencing would essentially sentence the defendant for a crime for which he had not been convicted. Id. This Court reasoned further that, because the statutory maximum for failure to appear is five (5) years, a departure sentence in excess of five years would be an illegal sentence. Id. This Court noted, moreover, that because the extent of departure from the guidelines is not subject to appellate review, a departure in excess of five years would circumvent the legislatively established five year maximum. Id. at 503. This Court noted further that, the defendant's acquiescence to the conditions could not confer authority on the court to impose the departure sentence.

In that case, the trial court began with the presumption that the defendant would not be sentenced under the guidelines, unless the defendant, inter alia, appeared for sentencing. The defendant did not bargain for that condition, as the Defendant did in this case. Moreover, there is no indication in that case that the defendant had any option but to accept the condition imposed upon him. Additionally, at that time, the court did not indicate the sentence that it would impose if the defendant did

⁴ See, Section 843.15 Florida Statutes (1985).

not appear for sentencing. The defendant therefore could not know the penalty for his failure to appear.

In the instant case, Defendant initiated the sentencing negotiations by requesting the furlough. Defendant indicated that she needed to make living arrangements for her minor children. The court, defense counsel and the State, in Defendant's presence, entered into negotiations to determine under what conditions the court could grant the furlough. At the conclusion of the negotiations, and under oath, Defendant indicated that she understood the negotiations and agreed to the terms of the furlough. Defendant specifically agreed to the forty (40) year sentence. Defendant therefore waived sentencing within the guidelines recommended sentence in exchange for the furlough.

Thus, unlike the defendant in William, Defendant in this case negotiated for the forty (40) year sentence. The court did not "impose" the condition, and Defendant did not merely acquiesce to that condition. Defendant specifically agreed to the sentence prior to accepting the furlough. Defendant therefore knew the penalty that would be imposed for her breach of that agreement.

Moreover, in Williams, the court indicated, as its reason for imposing the departure sentence, "...DEFENDANT DID NOT APPEAR

FOR SENTENCING ON JULY 20, 1984". Williams, 500 So. 2d at 502. Clearly then, the only basis indicated for the departure sentence was the defendant did not appear for sentencing. This Court therefore framed that issue as "whether a defendant's failure to appear for sentencing constitutes a clear and convincing reason for departure from the guidelines". Id. at 502.

In the instant case, the court indicated that its reason for imposing the departure sentence was that Defendant "waived guidelines to get furlough-failed to turn herself in". (R. 77). The basis for the departure sentence in this case then, was that Defendant waived sentencing within the guidelines in exchange for the furlough, it was not based on Defendant's failure to return for sentencing. Williams, is therefore distinguishable from the instant case.

Moreover, Williams was decided before Quarterman, and at the time that Williams was decided, this Court had not yet recognized that a defendant could agree to a sentence in excess of the guidelines. See, e.g., Harris v. State, 524 So. 2d 1104 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988). Thus, because Williams did not contemplate a defendant's agreement to a departure sentence, it should not control this case.

DEFENDANT SHOULD BE ESTOPPED FROM CHALLENGING THE AGREEMENT.

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